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ARCHER, Circuit Judge.

UPS Customhouse Brokerage, Inc. (“UPS") appeals the Court of International
Trade's judgment in favor of the United States. The Court of International Trade held
1) UPS misclassified certain merchandise under subheading 8473.30.9000 of the
Harmonized Tariff Schedule of the United States (‘HTSUS"); 2) UPS’s misclassification
established multiple violations of 19 U.S.C. § 1641, which requires brokers to exercise
responsible supervision and control over their customs business; and 3) the United

States is entitled to a judgment in the amount of $75,000 against UPS. United States v.

UPS Customhouse Brokerage. Inc., 558 F. Supp. 2d 1331 (Ct. Int'l Trade May 28,

2008). We affirm the court's holding that UPS misclassified merchandise under

subheading 8473.30.9000. Because the Court of International Trade erred in upholding



the Bureau of Customs and Border Protection’s (“Customs”) determination that UPS did
not exercise responsible supervision and control in violation of 19 U.S.C. § 1641, we
vacate that portion of the court’s judgment and remand for further proceedings.

I

Since 1985, UPS has been a licensed customs broker that prepares and files
customs entry documents on behalf of its clients. This case arises from UPS's
classification entries under HTSUS heading 8473, which covers parts and accessories
of automated data processing (“ADP”) machines. From January through May 2000,
UPS classified the sixty entries at issue here under HTSUS subheading 8473.30.9000.
Customs claimed that the entries were misclassified because HTSUS 8473.30.9000
required the parts at issue to contain a cathode ray tube (“CRT"), rather than being part
of a computer that contained a CRT.

Customs initiated eight penalty actions against UPS covering the sixty alleged
misclassified entries as follows: three pre-penalty notices for $5,000 each on May 15,
2000, with each notice consisting of five entries; three pre-penalty notices for $5,000
each on July 11, 2000, with each notice consisting of five entries; and two pre-penalty
notices for $30,000 each on August 15, 2000, with each notice consisting of fifteen
entries. All eight of the pre-penalty notices alleged a failure to exercise responsible
supervision and control in classifying ADP parts under HTSUS subheading
8473.30.9000. On September 15, 2000, Customs issued three penalty notices for
$5,000 each based on the May 15 pre-penalty notices. UPS paid these penaliies. On
September 26, 2000, Customs issued three more penalty notices for $5,000 each

based on the July 11 pre-penalty notices, and on October 19, 2000, Customs issued
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two more penalty notices for $30,000 each based on the August 15 pre-penalty notices.
The penalties assessed totaled $90,000.

On December 17, 2004, the government brought suit in the Court of International
Trade seeking to enforce the unpaid portion of the penalties—i.e., $75,000. UPS
moved for summary judgment on the issue of whether 19 U.S.C. § 1641 limited
Customs to assessing a single penalty for all alleged violations preceding issuance of
the first pre-penalty notice or, alternatively, whether it limited Customs to an aggregate
monetary penalty of $30,000 for all alleged violations preceding issuance of the first pre-
penalty notice.” The court denied the motion.?

Following irial, the Court of International Trade held that the computer parts were
misclassified and that the repeated misclassifications constituted multiple violations of
the statutory duty to exercise responsible supervision and control. The court then
concluded that Customs had demonstrated tha;f UPS failed to exercise responsible
supervision and control and that Customs established that UPS violated

19 U.S.C. § 1641 on multiple occasions. The Court of International Trade further held

! These issues were briefed by the parties in this appeal, but we decline to

consider them now because of our decision that the Court of International Trade erred
in upholding the underlying determination by Customs that UPS did not exercise
responsible supervision and control as required by 19 U.S.C. § 1641.

The Court of International Trade granted UPS's motion to certify for
interlocutory appeal the question of whether under 19 U.S.C. § 1641 Customs:

may issue more than one penalty notice for a customs broker's alleged
failure to exercise responsible supervision and control based upon the
customs broker's alleged repeated misclassification of entered
merchandise over a period of time and on multiple separate entry
documents; and if so, whether the aggregate penalty sought from those
multiple penalty notices may exceed $30,000.

This court, however, denied the petition for permission to appeal.
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